

NAVAL POSTGRADUATE SCHOOL

MONTEREY, CALIFORNIA

THESIS

OPTIMIZATION OF LIGHTWEIGHT TORPEDO ALLOCATION

by

Violeta A. Lopez

September 2022

Thesis Advisor: Second Reader: Javier Salmeron-Medrano Moshe Kress

Approved for public release. Distribution is unlimited.

REPORT	Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188						
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instruction, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Washington headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302, and to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (0704-0188) Washington, DC 20503.							
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave blank)	2. REPORT DATE September 2022	3. REPORT TYPE AND DATES COVERED Master's thesis					
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE OPTIMIZATION OF LIGHT6. AUTHOR(S) Violeta A. Lo	ON	5. FUNDING NUMBERS					
7. PERFORMING ORGANI Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, CA 93943-5000	RESS(ES)	8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER					
9. SPONSORING / MONITO ADDRESS(ES) N/A	D	10. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY REPORT NUMBER					
11. SUPPLEMENTARY NO official policy or position of the	TES The views expressed in this t the Department of Defense or the U.	hesis are those of th S. Government.	ne author and do not reflect the				
12a. DISTRIBUTION / AVAI Approved for public release. Dis	12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE A						
13. ABSTRACT (maximum 200 words) When making torpedo loadout decisions, planners must consider the capacities and capabilities of different ASW units, a limited budget, and diverse adversary submarine fleets. Currently, loadout decisions for the Mk-54 lightweight torpedo are made manually, and without a systematic approach to deal with threat uncertainty. The thesis seeks to inform these decisions by using stochastic optimization to determine the type and quantity of torpedoes to loadout to U.S. surface ships, fixed-wing aircraft, and helicopters in order to face an uncertain submarine threat with a desired probability of kill. We develop two formulations of the Torpedo Allocation Stochastic Optimization Model (TASOM): TASOM-1, which minimizes the number of missed submarines; and TASOM-2, which minimizes the deviation below the probability of kill threshold. To show the value of the stochastic programming approach over the typical deterministic planning, we present a notional case designed to represent an operation where ASW units are patrolling an area for adversary submarines. We randomly generate 100 threat scenarios where the number and class of submarines deployed to the area vary. The TASOM-2 loadout notably outperforms the deterministic average loadout. Our models combined with an accessible user interface provide planners with a decision aid tool to conduct sensitivity analysis to guide torpedo allocation and budget decisions under uncertainty.							
14. SUBJECT TERMS torpedoes, anti-submarine war optimization, weapon allocation	fare, stochastic programming, mix on, weapon-target assignment, wea	ed-integer programs pon procurement	ming, 15. NUMBER OF PAGES 73				
17 SECUDITV	18 SECURITY	10 SECUDITY	16. PRICE CODE				
CLASSIFICATION OF REPORT	CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE	CLASSIFICATI ABSTRACT	ON OF ABSTRACT				
Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified					

Prescribed by ANSI Std. 239-18

Approved for public release. Distribution is unlimited.

OPTIMIZATION OF LIGHTWEIGHT TORPEDO ALLOCATION

Violeta A. Lopez Lieutenant, United States Navy BS, United States Naval Academy, 2015

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN OPERATIONS RESEARCH

from the

NAVAL POSTGRADUATE SCHOOL September 2022

Approved by: Javier Salmeron-Medrano Advisor

> Moshe Kress Second Reader

W. Matthew Carlyle Chair, Department of Operations Research

ABSTRACT

When making torpedo loadout decisions, planners must consider the capacities and capabilities of different ASW units, a limited budget, and diverse adversary submarine fleets. Currently, loadout decisions for the Mk-54 lightweight torpedo are made manually, and without a systematic approach to deal with threat uncertainty. The thesis seeks to inform these decisions by using stochastic optimization to determine the type and quantity of torpedoes to loadout to U.S. surface ships, fixed-wing aircraft, and helicopters in order to face an uncertain submarine threat with a desired probability of kill. We develop two formulations of the Torpedo Allocation Stochastic Optimization Model (TASOM): TASOM-1, which minimizes the number of missed submarines; and TASOM-2, which minimizes the deviation below the probability of kill threshold. To show the value of the stochastic programming approach over the typical deterministic planning, we present a notional case designed to represent an operation where ASW units are patrolling an area for adversary submarines. We randomly generate 100 threat scenarios where the number and class of submarines deployed to the area vary. The TASOM-2 loadout notably outperforms the deterministic average loadout. Our models combined with an accessible user interface provide planners with a decision aid tool to conduct sensitivity analysis to guide torpedo allocation and budget decisions under uncertainty.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INT	INTRODUCTION1						
	А.	BACKGROUND	1					
		1. Anti-submarine Warfare Platforms	1					
		2. Adversary Submarine Forces	2					
		3. Mk-54 Lightweight Torpedo	3					
	B.	MOTIVATION	3					
	C.	THESIS ORGANIZATION	4					
II.	LIT	ERATURE REVIEW	5					
	А.	WEAPON ALLOCATION PROBLEMS	5					
	B.	WEAPON-TARGET ASSIGNMENT PROBLEMS	7					
III.	ОРТ	FIMIZATION MODEL	11					
	А.	ASSUMPTIONS	11					
	B.	TASOM-1	12					
		1. Indices and Sets [Size]	13					
		2. Scenario-Dependent Sets	13					
		3. Parameters [Units]	13					
		4. Scenario-Dependent Parameters [Units]	14					
		5. Derived Sets and Parameters [Units]	14					
		6. Decision Variables [Units]	14					
		7. Formulation	15					
		8. Discussion	16					
	C.	TASOM-2	17					
		1. Derived Sets and Parameters [Units]	17					
		2. Decision Variables [Units]	18					
		3. Formulation	18					
		4. Discussion	19					
	D.	DETERMINISTIC MODELS	20					
IV.	RES	SULTS AND ANALYSIS	21					
	A.	BASELINE DATA	21					
	B.	SCENARIO GENERATION	24					
	C.	IMPLEMENTATION	26					
	D.	OUTPUT DISPLAY	27					
	E.	COMPARISON OF DETERMINISTIC VS. STOCHASTIC						
		MODELING	31					

		1.	Expected Value of Perfect Information	
		2.	Average Loadout vs. Stochastic Loadout	
		3.	Loadout from All-Targets Scenario vs. Stochastic	
			Loadout	
	F.	SEN	SITIVITY ANALYSIS	
		1.	Varying Budget Level	
		2.	Varying Desired Probability of Kill	
		3.	Varying Effectiveness of Mod 2	
V.	CON	NCLUS	SIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	47
	A.	SUN	/IMARY	
	B.	REC	COMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE WORK	
		1.	Further Development of TASOM-2	
		2.	Additional Cases and Real-World Data	
LIST	Г OF R	EFER	ENCES	49
INIT	FIAL D	ISTRI	BUTION LIST	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Sample of scenario data	26
Figure 2.	TASOM-1: Exceedance functions for misses for: deterministic, fixed average loadout plan with unlimited budget; stochastic loadout plan when budget is limited by the deterministic solution; and stochastic loadout plan for a \$25M budget	36
Figure 3.	TASOM-2: Exceedance functions for average probability of kill shortfall: deterministic, fixed average loadout plan with unlimited budget; stochastic loadout plan when budget is limited by the deterministic solution; and stochastic loadout plan for a \$25M budget	37
Figure 4.	TASOM-1: Exceedance functions for misses for deterministic, fixed loadouts from all-targets scenario and stochastic loadouts, for \$25M and \$10M budgets	39
Figure 5.	TASOM-1: Expected number of missed targets for various budget levels	39
Figure 6.	TASOM-2: Exceedance functions for average probability of kill shortfall for deterministic, fixed loadouts from all-targets scenario and stochastic loadouts, for \$25M and \$10M budgets	41
Figure 7.	TASOM-2: Expected average probability of kill shortfall for various budget levels	41
Figure 8.	TASOM-2: Exceedance functions for average probability of kill shortfall for stochastic loadouts for various budgets levels	42
Figure 9.	TASOM-2: Number of mod 2 torpedoes purchased for different budget levels and desired probability of kill thresholds	43
Figure 10.	TASOM-2: Number of mod 2 torpedoes purchased for different budget levels and probability of kill values of a mod 2 torpedo	45

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Torpedo inventory and cost data	21
Table 2.	Budget and torpedo loading cost data	22
Table 3.	Platform data	22
Table 4.	Probability of kill data	23
Table 5.	Individual shooter data	23
Table 6.	Individual target data	24
Table 7.	Scenario generator inputs	25
Table 8.	Computational data for baseline case with 100 scenarios	27
Table 9.	Comparison of computation times for baseline case with various number of scenarios	27
Table 10.	Stochastic loadout plan for budget level of \$25M	29
Table 11.	Sample of engagement results	30
Table 12.	Sample of miss results	31
Table 13.	Sample of summary results	32
Table 14.	Expected cost from stochastic and deterministic models, and value of perfect information, for budget levels of \$25M and \$10M	33
Table 15.	Summary (total torpedoes) for: deterministic, fixed average loadout plan with unlimited budget; stochastic loadout plan when budget is limited by the deterministic solution; and stochastic, for a \$25M budget	35
Table 16.	Value of stochastic solution over manual planning with deterministic, fixed average loadout plan, for budget limited by the deterministic solution, and for budget of \$25M	35
Table 17.	Summary (total torpedoes) of the stochastic loadout plan and the loadout plan from the all-targets scenario	38
Table 18.	Probability of kill values of the mod 2 torpedo at various levels of percentage increase over mod 1 probability of kill value	44

LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ASROC	anti-submarine rocket
ASW	anti-submarine warfare
DAFS	dynamic allocation of fires and sensors
EVPI	expected value of perfect information
MH-60R	MH-60R Seahawk (helicopter)
Mk-54	Mk-54 lightweight torpedo
mod 0	modification/variant of the Mk-54 lightweight torpedo
mod 1	modification/variant of the Mk-54 lightweight torpedo
mod 2	modification/variant of the Mk-54 lightweight torpedo
P-8	P-8 Poseidon (maritime patrol aircraft)
SVTT	surface vessel torpedo tubes
VLS	vertical launch system
VSS	value of stochastic solution
TASOM	torpedo allocation stochastic model
WTA	weapon-target assignment

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In anti-submarine warfare (ASW), planners must consider the capacities and capabilities of different units and a limited inventory or budget when making torpedo loadout decisions. They must also plan for a very diverse submarine threat, a task that is further complicated as adversaries continue to grow their fleets and expand their global operations. These torpedo loadout decisions typically must be made in advance of the detection of an adversary submarine or even an ASW unit deployment.

Currently, loadout decisions for the Mk-54 lightweight torpedo are made manually, and without a systematic approach to deal with threat uncertainty. The goal of this thesis is to aid in torpedo allocation decisions using formal mathematical optimization. Specifically, this thesis provides a decision aid tool that recommends a torpedo loadout plan (i.e., the type and quantity of torpedoes that each surface ship, with embarked helicopters, or P-8 squadron should carry), in order to face an uncertain submarine threat with a commander's desired probability of kill. At the core of this tool, we develop mixed-integer, stochastic optimization models that seek to minimize expected failure to meet a desired probability of kill threshold, subject to planner's budgetary and inventory constraints, among others.

The Mk-54 torpedo type is employed by the MH-60R Seahawk helicopter, P-8 maritime patrol aircraft, and surface ships when conducting ASW operations. The "mod 0" and "mod 1" variants of the Mk-54 are currently in use; however, the delivery of a "mod 2" variant is expected in fiscal year 2026. Of particular interest is the procurement and allocation of mod 2 torpedoes as it is anticipated to have significant improved performance compared to previous variants, but at a substantially higher cost.

We develop two formulations of our model, which we call the Torpedo Allocation Stochastic Optimization Model (TASOM). The key difference between them relates to the assessment of engagements that do not reach a desired probability of kill threshold. The first model, TASOM-1, minimizes the expected *number* of missed submarines: either an ASW unit fully meets the probability of kill threshold in its engagement, or it will not engage at all. The second model, TASOM-2, minimizes the expected *shortfall* from (i.e., deviation below) the probability of kill threshold: partial credit is given to engagements that do not fully achieve the desired threshold. Additionally, we consider a limited budget for purchasing torpedoes, an inventory of torpedoes already in stock, a limited magazine capacity for P-8 squadrons, embarked helicopter detachments, and ships and a limited salvo size for aircraft units.

While deterministic models assume perfect information of a certain threat scenario, or exactly how many adversary submarines will appear and which ASW units can engage them, our stochastic models assume probabilistic information of several possible threat scenarios. The solution that TASOM recommends is a torpedo loadout plan that is not subordinated to any threat scenario; instead, it reaches a compromise among all scenarios that are considered in the analysis in order to minimize the total cost of (a) torpedo purchases and (b) either expected number of missed submarines (for TASOM-1) or expected shortfall from the desired probability of kill threshold (for TASOM-2). The assessed cost for not meeting a probability of kill threshold for a submarine is a planner's input.

To show the value of the stochastic programming approach over a typical deterministic planning, we present a notional case designed to represent an ASW operation where four destroyers with embarked MH-60R detachments and two P-8 squadrons are patrolling an area for adversary submarines. For the operation, it is anticipated five to ten submarines deploy from the adversary fleet comprised of twenty submarines of different classes. We set the commander's desired probability of kill threshold to 90% for all submarine threats. From this case, 100 threat scenarios are randomly generated where a subset of the submarine fleet deploys and appears to the patrolling ASW units. Here, we define a scenario as a configuration of deployed submarines, available ASW units, and subsets of ASW units that can engage a certain submarine. In a scenario, an ASW unit may not be able to engage every deployed submarine or may be unavailable (i.e., preemptively killed) to engage any submarines.

We first compare the expected "shortage" of TASOM torpedo loadout plan to the expected shortage of the "average loadout." For the average loadout, we use the average

number of torpedoes allocated to each ASW unit in the 100 scenarios when each scenario is deterministically solved for optimality. In TASOM-1, the expected shortage is the expected number of submarines where the probability of kill threshold is not met at all, or more simply, the number of submarines missed, in the 100 scenarios. In TASOM-2, the expected shortage is the expected scenario average shortfall from the probability of kill in the 100 scenarios. A second comparison is made of TASOM loadout plan to another deterministic loadout that is optimal to an "all-targets" scenario, where each of the twenty submarines from the adversary fleet is targetable by each of the ASW units.

TASOM-1 loadout performs marginally better than the average loadout. The average loadout results in an average of 2.13 submarine misses; the TASOM-1 loadout, with a budget limited to the cost of the average loadout, results in an average of 1.82 submarine misses. TASOM-2 value over planning with the deterministic approach is more apparent. The average loadout achieves an expected average probability of kill of 78%; the loadout for TASOM-2, with a budget limited to the cost of the average loadout, achieves 87%. When we compared the stochastic loadouts to deterministic loadouts plan optimal for the all-targets scenario, we see similar results for TASOM-1 and TASOM-2.

Our models are combined with an accessible user interface, which facilitates a user with no programming experience to create their own case, quickly generate scenarios, and access pertinent results. The TASOM decision aid tool developed in this research (a) uses formal mathematical optimization, where the planner has control over all input parameters; (b) explicitly deals with uncertain threats without subordinating decisions to deterministic assumptions; and (c) facilitates exploration of alternative inputs via sensitivity analysis. Together, this research provides planners with a decision aid tool that can be used to guide torpedo allocation and budget decisions under uncertainty.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To Professor Salmeron, thank you for your patience and guidance throughout this process. It has truly been an honor to work with you. To my cohort, thank you for your support and shared memories these past two years. To my family, thank you for your love and encouragement that has helped me reach where I am today.

I. INTRODUCTION

Anti-submarine warfare (ASW) is defined as "operations conducted with the intention of denying the enemy the effective use of submarines" (Joint Chiefs of Staff 2021, p. IV-10). These operations include locating, tracking, and neutralizing enemy submarines. This research focuses on the last task. As adversaries continue to modernize and grow their submarine fleets, we seek to optimally equipping U.S. Navy's ASW platforms with weapons that can effectively target those submarines.

Specifically, our primary goal is to develop mathematical models that suggest an optimal torpedo allocation plan for ASW platforms. "Optimal" here refers to highest expected campaign success under multiple threat scenarios. These models can guide decision makers in planning for an uncertain threat when procuring and allocating ASW weapons.

A. BACKGROUND

1. Anti-submarine Warfare Platforms

ASW is primarily executed by maritime patrol aircraft, surface combatants and their embarked helicopters, and submarines. Communication restrictions and water space management requirements typically precludes submarines from operating collaboratively with other platform types. We assume that friendly submarines will conduct ASW operations in areas that do not overlap with surface and air assets and will not be discussed further in this thesis.

The P-8 Poseidon is a multi-mission maritime patrol aircraft. When conducting ASW, it can equip lightweight torpedoes to engage adversary submarines. Compared to surface platforms, the P-8 can cover a greater area when searching for submarines and can engage without the threat of enemy torpedoes. A P-8 squadron consists of six or seven aircraft and a detachment consists of four or five aircraft. Squadrons and detachments can deploy and operate out of U.S., allied, and partner air bases worldwide.

MH-60R Seahawk helicopters share the same advantages over surface platforms as the P-8, but they can carry fewer torpedoes and have a much shorter operational range.

MH-60R detachments can be embarked on Flight IIA Arleigh-Burke guided missile destroyers, Ticonderoga guided missile cruisers, both Independence and Freedom class littoral combat ships, and aircraft carriers. Destroyers, cruisers, and littoral combat ships have space to embark a maximum of two MH-60Rs.

For surface platforms, engaging an adversary submarine with an embarked MH-60R is preferred. Both cruisers and destroyers can fire lightweight torpedoes from their surface vessel torpedo tubes (SVTT) and vertical launch anti-submarine rocket (ASROC) systems. A torpedo launched from an SVTT has a very limited range and normally is only used as a reactionary weapon. A torpedo used in an ASROC is specially modified for employment in one of the Vertical Launch System (VLS) modules. An ASROC has an increased range and can be used for an offense engagement of a submarine.

2. Adversary Submarine Forces

The U.S. Navy must be prepared to face a very diverse threat. According to Janes (Janes 2021a), there are 15 different submarine classes in the People's Liberation Army Navy (PLAN) and 27 in the Russian Navy. The PLAN submarine fleet is mostly comprised of diesel-electric submarine with a small percentage of nuclear-powered submarines (Congressional Research Service [CRS] 2022). While The People's Republic of China represents the pacing threat for the U.S., Russia remains a concern as its navy expands its operations globally and continues to modernize. The development of its submarine technology has been a particular focus of the Russian Navy (Department of Defense 2018). In contrast to the PLAN, the Russian Navy has prioritized the construction of new nuclear attack submarines as well as the modernization of its inherited late Cold War era nuclear submarine fleet in its shipbuilding program (CRS 2020).

The divergence of the composition of the Russian and Chinese submarine fleets poses a complicated challenge for defense planning. There are significant differences in the construction and operations of diesel and nuclear submarines that affect detection and engagement. Conventional, or diesel-powered submarines, are typically smaller in size and more maneuverable in the littorals. Nuclear-powered submarines can stay submerged for much longer periods of time, but are larger and less maneuverable, making them better suited for longer range, blue water operations. The effectiveness of ASW weapons depends greatly on submarine hull construction and size as well as the operating profile, to include speed and depth. This is applicable to the torpedo's propulsion system, control and guidance system, and warhead. For example, engaging submarines at greater depths requires increased propulsion power (Payne 2010).

3. Mk-54 Lightweight Torpedo

The Mk-54 lightweight torpedo is fired from surface ships from the SVTT and the ASROC systems. It can also be equipped by the MH-60R and the P-8 when conducting ASW operations.

The Mk-54 has been in service since 2004 and has replaced the Mk-46 has the primary lightweight torpedo for the U.S. Navy. Its development was motivated by the assessment that the primary threat was shifting from fast Russian submarines operating in a blue water environment to new, quiet, diesel-electric submarines operating in a littoral environment (Janes 2021b). Upgrades in the Mk-54 "mod 0" variant, and the "mod 1" variant, have improved shallow-water performance and detection of slower moving targets (Janes 2021b). The Mk-54 "mod 2" variant is planned for delivery in fiscal year 2026 and will feature a new warhead and propulsion system (Director, Operational Test and Evaluation 2021). In this thesis, we consider the allocation of a torpedo inventory comprised of mod 0, mod 1, and mod 2 variants.

B. MOTIVATION

Currently, torpedo loadout decisions are made manually. The goal of this thesis is to aid in torpedo allocation decisions using formal mathematical optimization. Specifically, stochastic optimization will allow decision makers to plan for an uncertain threat. Planning for uncertainty in threat composition is realistic as typically loadout decision must be made in advance of detection of an adversary submarine or even deployment of an ASW unit. Of particular interest is the procurement and allocation of mod 2 torpedoes as it is anticipated to have significant improved performance, but at a substantially higher cost.

C. THESIS ORGANIZATION

Chapter II reviews previous research on weapon allocation and weapon-target assignment (WTA) problems. Chapter III provides the formulation of two stochastic optimization models, which seek related (yet slightly different) goals. Chapter IV demonstrates the model in the context of a small scenario using notional data and provides analysis of model results. Chapter V offers recommendations for future development.

II. LITERATURE REVIEW

The models we present in Chapter III are two-stage stochastic models where we decide how to allocate torpedoes to ASW units in the first stage and assign torpedoes to submarines in the second stage. We therefore review two types of problems: allocation of weapons to units and assignment of weapons to targets. Since weapon allocation decisions are often made without complete knowledge of the threat, we focus on reviewing previous research that employs stochastic optimization and simulation, both of which seek to address this uncertainty.

A. WEAPON ALLOCATION PROBLEMS

Page (1991) develops a mixed integer programming model to inform the Army on the optimal mix of artillery systems and munitions to employ in a notional land combat scenario, as well as what munitions to use on what target types. The model minimizes cost of weapon systems and munitions expended while meeting a commander's kill criteria consisting of a required percentage of target types killed in a scenario.

Jarek (1994) uses simulation to inform the number of shipboard air defense missiles needed for air warfare in a theater. The engagements between friendly fighters and inbound threats are simulated to determine the expected number of threats that are neutralized before reaching a VLS ship's missile engagement zone. The number of missiles needed to expend on the remaining targets is calculated, providing a low end for theater missile inventory. A second case without the added defense of friendly fighters provides an upper bound for number of missiles needed.

Although not a WTA problem, the sensor allocation model Tutton (2003) develops is included in this review as it uses stochastic optimization in a related problem. In the model, the assignment of search packages to targets is determined while considering an uncertain enemy order of battle (i.e., the type, quantity, and location of targets). Search packages consist of at least one platform with at least one sensor. These packages are configured from an inventory of different sensors and different platforms, and their overall search performance is precalculated. The model assumes probabilistic information for four defined enemy orders of battle and suggests an allocation plan that maximizes the weighted expected number of targets detected, along with an overall value representing several sensor characteristics.

Avital (2004) develops a two-period stochastic supply chain model to determine how many antiship cruise missiles should be procured and how to allocate them given an uncertain demand. Each scenario is defined as the number and type of missions, or targets, each of which has a discrete missile requirement, or demand, to achieve mission success. A scenario is met successfully when there are enough missiles to cover all targets. An optimal plan minimizes the procurement, distribution, and storage costs while meeting a user-specified probability threshold of achieving a successful scenario.

Cai (2018) uses an agent-based, time-stepped based simulation to find an effective mix of precision and area artillery munitions for offensive operations in an urban environment. Targets in the simulation have a specified movement behavior where they can engage friendly forces or seek shelter. The proportion of each type of the three munitions in the artillery battery was one of the primary factors of interest in the experiment. Munition mixes have an effect on the experimental measures of effectiveness, which include collateral damage, time for mission success, and fratricide rates. Two combat scenarios of different terrain sizes were investigated, which largely affect the most precise munition. The results of the simulation provide very general recommendations of what percentage of certain munition types should be carried.

Brown and Kline (2021) consider mission coverage instead of target engagement in order to determine an optimal weapon loadout for VLS ships. Different types of missiles, each employed in different missions (strike, air defense, or anti-submarine warfare) can be accommodated in a VLS cell. A war plan consists of a set of missions, where each mission has a minimum number of ships and missiles onboard each ship to cover it. Each mission also has an associated commander priority. An optimal loadout plan for all VLS ships minimizes the shortfalls in the war plan mission coverage.

Adamah et al. (2021) develop a nonlinear optimization model to determine the type and quantity of Mk-48 heavyweight torpedoes to allocate to submarines conducting ASW operations. The model considers two different variants of the Mk-48, four different classes of friendly submarines, and eleven different classes of adversary submarines. Constraints account for torpedo capacity and inventory. Another requirement is that each submarine must carry enough torpedoes to achieve a minimum probability of kill for the least vulnerable threat present (i.e., proposed loadouts do not account for threat density).

From the abovementioned literature, and in relation with this thesis, Page (1991) and Avital (2004) both use a commander's specified threshold for desired success; however, they focus on minimizing weapon cost in their models and look at targets as an aggregate demand. The simulations in Jarek (1994) and Cai (2018) provide general recommendations for total missiles required or munition composition, but not a closed-form solution that can be taken as an actionable loadout plan for units. Tutton's (2003) model allocates sensors to units, which differs from torpedo allocation in sensors not being expended (after use) on targets. Brown and Kline (2021) consider mission coverage instead of targets, which is not an appropriate approach for our problem as torpedoes are employed solely for engaging adversary submarines (or countering adversary submarine torpedoes). Only Adamah et al. (2021) involve torpedoes as the weapon type; however, their model is nonlinear and also does not recommend a torpedo loadout plan that accounts for multiple targets, just the least vulnerable target.

B. WEAPON-TARGET ASSIGNMENT PROBLEMS

The WTA problem is a major topic in research regarding weapon employment, particularly that of naval missiles, and was first introduced in Manne (1958). The WTA problem can be viewed from either an offensive or defensive perspective as it can be formulated to optimize the assignment of weapons to targets to either maximize damage on target or minimize a cost, which can include weapons expended and battle damage incurred.

Uryasev and Pardalos (2004) use the WTA problem to demonstrate a method for military planners to manage for risks that can arise from uncertainty. The authors first present a deterministic WTA model which specifies a constraint where a minimum required probability of kill for each target must be met while minimizing mission cost. Uncertainty is then introduced in a stochastic model by assuming the probabilities of kill are dependent on the scenario. Comparing the deterministic solution using the expected probability of kill to the stochastic solution revealed the lack of robustness in the deterministic weapon assignment decisions, which performed poorly in over half of the scenarios.

Simulation has also been used to inform weapon target pairing decisions. Buss and Ahner (2006) develop the Dynamic Allocation of Fires and Sensors (DAFS) combat simulation to evaluate future combat systems for the Army (Havens 2002). DAFS is a discrete-event simulation that represents entity movement, detection, and weapon effects events. User inputs define weapon ranges, munitions carried by a weapon, and probabilities of kill for munition to target. An optimization process within DAFS is periodically executed to revise weapon to target assignments in order to maximize the current probability of success. Further work has taken steps to adapt DAFS for a naval warfare application by accounting for radar and electronic sensors and the unique behavior of naval ordnance (Hattaway 2008). DAFS reports all weapon and target interactions during the simulation, which can be used to evaluate the effectiveness of weapons within a network of weapons.

More recent work focuses on efforts to aid weapon target decisions in real-time. Laird (2016) considers a mix of weapons to assign against swarming threats from air, surface, and sub-surface. In order to improve computational times and make the model usable for actual combat operations, a preprocessing algorithm is implemented to create pairings that meet weapon-target feasibility requirements and assigns a reward value to each feasible pairing based on target value, time needed to engage, and probability of kill. Weapons are assigned to targets so as to maximize total reward in a scenario.

Templin (2021) considers a derivative of the WTA problem with the simplifying assumption that there is only one target to engage. The focus of the research is to inform firing policy, specifically the amount and type of missiles to use on a threat. A heuristic model generates feasible sequences of missiles that meet a minimum probability of kill threshold and evaluates their cost and effectiveness.

Except for DAFS, the models reviewed in this section only consider one shooter unit. While we desire to plan for an uncertain threat, where different types and quantities of targets are present in a scenario, Uryasey and Paradalos (2004) plan for one scenario but an uncertain probability of kill of the weapon. Like the other simulation work reviewed, DAFS (Havens 2002; Buss and Ahner 2006; Hattaway 2008) does not supply a closedform solution of how weapons should be assigned to targets or allocated to units. Both Laird (2016) and Templin (2021) plan for a given threat and do not account for any uncertainty in the threat scenario.

III. OPTIMIZATION MODEL

This chapter introduces two formulation variants of our model, which we call the Torpedo Allocation Stochastic Optimization Model (TASOM). The key difference between them relates to the assessment of engagements that do not reach a desired probability of kill threshold. The first model, TASOM-1, minimizes the expected *number* of missed submarines: either an ASW unit fully meets the probability of kill threshold in its engagement, or it will not engage at all. The second model, TASOM-2, minimizes the expected *shortfall* from (i.e., deviation below) the probability of kill threshold: engagements may still occur even if they not fully achieve the desired threshold. Both models also consider the cost of the additional weapons acquired (not in inventory) for the recommended loadouts.

In what follows, we will use the following terminology:

- **Red target**—An individual submarine of a particular class that could be deployed.
- Blue shooter—An individual P-8 squadron or detachment, an MH-60R detachment, or a surface ship with VLS capability that is available for ASW operations.
- Scenario—A configuration of deployed red targets, surviving (not killed) blue shooters, and subsets of blue shooters that can engage a certain red target.

A. ASSUMPTIONS

A blue shooter is an individual P-8 squadron or detachment, an MH-60R detachment, or surface ship with VLS capability that is available for ASW operations. Engagements of multiple red targets from an individual squadron or detachment can be interpreted as separate flights from the same squadron or detachment.

Our model only considers offense engagements. For a ship, this means we only seek to determine the allocation of torpedoes to be used as ASROCs from the VLS and not those that may be employed from the SVTT as reactive shots.

To ensure engagements are feasible, particularly for the aircraft, it is necessary to differentiate between capacity and maximum number of torpedoes a blue shooter can expend on a target (also known as maximum "salvo" size). Capacity for ships would be VLS cells available for ASROCs, a ship magazine for embarked helicopters, and a shoreside magazine for P-8 squadron. The maximum salvo size would be what the aircraft would physically carry.

Another assumption is that time is not a component in TASOM. The decisions of which blue shooters engage which red targets and with what torpedoes are made at once: if a blue shooter can engage multiple red targets during a deployment, weapon assignment decisions are made as if engagements were simultaneous.

Similarly, shooter to target decisions are made when multiple blue shooters can engage the same red. Both TASOM-1 and TASOM-2 have the capability for this type of "cooperative engagement." However, in practice, this is a rare event and our computational experience is limited to a single shooter per target.

Lastly, the scenario information defines whether a blue shooter can engage a target. Thus, we assume no risk of losing track during an engagement, regardless of the salvo size.

B. TASOM-1

This model focuses on minimizing the cost of purchasing new torpedoes and the expected "cost" of red targets for which the desired probability of kill is not achieved (a planner's input). Specifically, a shooter engages a red target to achieve the desired probability of kill threshold, or else they will not engage at all. The assessed cost for not meeting a target probability of kill threshold is assumed to be a planner's input. In our test case, we set the cost of completely missing a target to \$100M.

1.	Indices and Sets [Size]
$t \in T$	torpedo variants [~3];
$b \in B$	individual blue shooters [~10];
$p_b \in P$	platform type of b shooter [~3];
$r \in R$	individual red targets [~20];
$s_r \in S$	submarine type of r target [~3];
$\omega \in \Omega$	scenarios defining red force composition [~50].
2.	Scenario-Dependent Sets
$R^{D,\omega} \subset R$	subset of individual red targets that are deployed, under scenario ω ;
$B^{E,\omega} \subset B$	subset of individual blue shooters that exist, i.e., not killed, under scenario ω ;
$B_r^{\omega} \subset B^{E,\omega}$	subset of individual existing blue shooters that can engage target
	$r \in R^{D,\omega}$ under scenario ω .
3.	Parameters [Units]
cost	nominal cost of loading a torpedo from inventory [\$];
$cost'_t$	cost of purchasing and loading torpedo variant <i>t</i> [\$];
budget	budget for purchasing torpedoes [\$];
inv	inventory of torpedoes variant t [torpedoes];
thres _r	probability of kill threshold for target r [unitless];
\mathcal{E}_r	cost for not meeting probability of kill threshold for target r [\$]; in
	our test cases we set it to \$100M for all targets;
cap_b	number of torpedoes shooter <i>b</i> can carry [torpedoes];

maxb _r	maximum	number	of	blue	shooters	that	can	shoot	at	target	r
	[shooters];										

- $maxt_b$ maximum number of torpedoes shooter b can expend on a target [torpedoes];
- *pkill*_{t,p_b,s_r} probability of killing submarine type s_r by platform type p_b with torpedo variant t [unitless].

4. Scenario-Dependent Parameters [Units]

prob^{ω} probability of scenario ω occurring [unitless].

5. Derived Sets and Parameters [Units]

 $R^{T,\omega} \subset R^{D,\omega}$ subset of individual red targets that are targetable, i.e., can be engaged by an existing blue shooter: $R^{T,\omega} = \{r \in R^{D,\omega} \mid \exists b \in B_r^{\omega}\};$

 $R^{\emptyset,\omega} \subset R^{D,\omega}$ subset of individual red targets that are not targetable: $R^{\emptyset,\omega} = R^{D,\omega} \setminus R^{T,\omega};$

*miss*_r value of $-\ln(1-thres_r)$ (where ln refers to natural logarithm) for target r [unitless];

pkill $_{t,b,r}^{\omega}$ probability of target *r* of submarine type s_r being killed by shooter *b* of platform type p_b with torpedo variant *t* [unitless]:

$$pkill_{t,b,r}^{\omega} = pkill_{t,p,c}$$
 for $b \in B_p, r \in R_c^{D,\omega}$ if $b \in B_r^{\omega}$.

6. Decision Variables [Units]

- $X_{t,b}$ number of torpedoes of variant *t* from inventory to be loaded onto shooter *b* [torpedoes];
- $X'_{t,b}$ number of torpedoes of variant *t* purchased to be loaded onto shooter *b* [torpedoes];
| $Y_{t,b,r}^{\omega}$ | number of torpedoes of variant t expended by shooter b on target r |
|----------------------|--|
| | under scenario ω [torpedoes]; |
| $B^{\omega}_{b,r}$ | equals 1 if shooter b engages target r under scenario ω , and 0 otherwise [unitless]; |
| D_r^{ω} | equals 1 if probability of kill threshold for target r is not met under |
| | scenario ω , and 0 otherwise [unitless]. |

7. Formulation

$$\min_{X,X',D} \sum_{t} \sum_{b} (cost X_{t,b} + cost'_{t} X'_{t,b}) + \sum_{\omega} \sum_{r \in \mathbb{R}^{T,\omega}} prob_{\omega} \varepsilon_{r} thres_{r} D_{r}^{\omega} + \sum_{\omega} \sum_{r \in \mathbb{R}^{Z,\omega}} prob_{\omega} \varepsilon_{r} thres_{r}$$
(1)

s.t.
$$\sum_{t} \sum_{b} cost'_{t} X'_{t,b} \leq budget$$
(2)

$$\sum_{b} X_{t,b} \le inv_t \quad \forall t \in T$$
(3)

$$\sum_{t} X_{t,b} + X'_{t,b} \le cap_{b} \quad \forall b \in B$$
(4)

$$\sum_{r \in \mathbb{R}^{T,\omega} \mid b \in \mathcal{B}_r^{\omega}} Y_{\iota,b,r}^{\omega} \le X_{\iota,b} + X_{\iota,b}^{'} \quad \forall t \in T, b \in \mathcal{B}, \omega \in \Omega$$
(5)

$$\sum_{b \in B_r^{\omega}} B_{b,r}^{\omega} \le maxb_r \quad \forall r \in \mathbb{R}^{T,\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$$
(6)

$$\sum_{t} Y_{t,b,r}^{\omega} \le maxt_{b} B_{b,r}^{\omega} \quad \forall b, r \in \mathbb{R}^{T,\omega} \text{ if } b \in B_{r}^{\omega}, \forall \omega \in \Omega$$

$$\tag{7}$$

$$\sum_{t} \sum_{b \in B_r^{\omega}} \ln(1 - pkill'_{t,b,r}) Y_{t,b,r}^{\omega} \le \ln(1 - thres_r) + miss_r D_r^{\omega} \quad \forall r \in \mathbb{R}^{T,\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$$
(8)

$$Y_{t,b,r}^{\omega} \ge 0 \text{ and integer} \quad \forall t \in T, b \in B, r \in \mathbb{R}^{T,\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$$
(9)

$$X_{t,b}, X'_{t,b} \ge 0 \text{ and integer} \quad \forall t \in T, b \in B$$
 (10)

$$D_r^{\omega} \in \{0,1\} \quad \forall \mathbf{r} \in \mathbf{R}^{T,\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$$
(11)

$$B_{b,r}^{\omega} \in \{0,1\} \quad \forall \mathbf{r} \in \mathbf{R}^{T}, b \in B, \omega \in \Omega$$
(12)

8. Discussion

The objective function (1) minimizes the cost of torpedoes allocated, from inventory or purchased, and the expected cost of not meeting the probability of kill threshold, including red submarines that are targetable and not targetable. The first term (cost of loading torpedoes already in inventory) is usually negligible compared to the cost of loading torpedoes that need to be purchased. Since a shooter must fully meet the probability of kill threshold in an engagement, we apply the cost of not meeting a threshold to the desired threshold itself. This is done for comparison purposes with TASOM-2. We also note that the last term in the objective function is a constant. It penalizes individual red targets guaranteed to survive (due to the lack of blue shooters capable of targeting them). We keep it in order to measure total damage (not just from the targetable red submarines).

Constraint (2) ensures the total cost of torpedoes purchased does not exceed the budget. Constraints (3) ensure that all torpedoes that are allocated, when not purchased, are in inventory. Constraints (4) limit the total number of torpedoes carried by each blue shooter to its capacity. Constraints (5) limit the total number of torpedoes expended in engagements by a blue shooter for whichever scenario occurs to the number of torpedoes allocated to that shooter. Constraints (6) limit cooperative engagements: a limited number of blue shooters is allowed to engage each red target in any given scenario. Constraints (7) ensure each shooter expends torpedoes only on targets that it is engaging and further limits the number of torpedoes it can expend on the target.

Constraints (8) ensures the mix of torpedoes expended on a target achieves a specified minimum probability of kill for any given scenario, or deems the target engagement under that scenario as fully unsuccessful. Note: original constraints to enforce meeting all thresholds are:

$$\prod_{t} \prod_{b \in B_r^{\omega}} (1 - pkill'_{t,b,r})^{Y_{t,b,r}^{\omega}} \leq 1 - thres_r \quad \forall r \in \mathbb{R}^{T,\omega}, \omega \in \Omega.$$

Constraints (8) are derived after taking natural logarithms on both sides, for an equivalent expression. We then add $miss_r D_r^{\omega}$ to the right-hand side in order to signal when an original constraint was not met.

Lastly, Constraints (9) to (12) include variable domains.

C. TASOM-2

 $n_{c,t}$

This model focuses on minimizing the cost of purchasing new torpedoes and the cost due to expected total deviation from the desired probability of kill threshold. Thus, as opposed to TASOM-1, TASOM-2 only penalizes the unmet fraction of the threshold. Unfortunately, the linearization that led to Constraints (8) cannot be used to measure this deviation. Instead, engagements are pre-generated as candidate "packages," where each package consists of a torpedo mix. Thus, we may also pre-calculate the probability that a candidate package kills a red target, and we may penalize the shortfall as desired (e.g., linearly, quadratically, logarithmically). In our computational experience we use a linear penalty, where two shortfalls of, say, 0.1 probability of kill each, are equivalent to one shortfall of 0.2 and another of 0.0. (A quadratic penalty would be smaller in the former, and a logarithmic one would be smaller in the latter.)

Albeit not a model limitation, for the computational experience we will not pregenerate "cooperative engagements" on the same target from different blue shooters. Limiting the candidate engagements to torpedo mixes from a single blue shooter reduces the computational complexity which, in turn, helps us to solve this model faster.

For brevity, we only show additional sets and parameters used in TASOM-2 with respect to TASOM-1. However, we still list all decision variables.

1. Derived Sets and Parameters [Units]

 $c \in C$ all potential combinations of torpedo variants [combinations];

number of torpedoes of variant *t* in combination *c* [torpedoes];

17

 $C_b \subset C$ subset of combinations that can be carried by shooter b: $C_b = \{c \in C \mid \sum_t n_{c,t} \le maxt_b\};$

pkill^{**}_{$$c,b,r probability of target r of submarine type s_r by shooter b of platform type p_b with torpedo combination c [unitless]:$$}

$$pkill_{c,b,r}^{\omega} = 1 - \prod_{t} \left(1 - pkill_{t,p_b,s_r}\right)^{n_{c,t}}, \text{ if } b \in B^{E,\omega} \cap B_r^{\omega} \text{ and } c \in C_b.$$

2. Decision Variables [Units]

- $X_{t,b}$ number of torpedoes of variant *t* purchased to be loaded onto shooter *b* [torpedoes];
- $X'_{t,b}$ number of torpedoes of variant t purchased to be loaded onto shooter b [torpedoes];
- $Y_{c,b,r}^{\omega}$ equals 1 if shooter *b* engages target *r* with torpedo combination c under scenario ω , and 0 otherwise [unitless];
- δ_r^{ω} shortfall of probability of kill threshold for target *r* under scenario ω [unitless].

3. Formulation

$$\min_{X,X',\delta} \sum_{t} \sum_{b} (cost X_{t,b} + cost_{t} X'_{t,b}) + \sum_{\omega} \sum_{r \in \mathbb{R}^{T,\omega}} prob_{\omega} \varepsilon_{r} \delta_{r}^{\omega} + \sum_{\omega} \sum_{r \in \mathbb{R}^{\emptyset,\omega}} prob_{\omega} \varepsilon_{r} thres_{r}$$
(13)

s.t.
$$\sum_{t} \sum_{b} cost'_{t} X'_{t,b} \leq budget$$
(14)

$$\sum_{b} X_{t,b} \le inv_t \quad \forall t \in T$$
⁽¹⁵⁾

$$\sum_{t} X_{t,b} + X'_{t,b} \le cap_b \quad \forall b \in B$$
(16)

$$\sum_{r \in \mathbb{R}^{T,\omega}} \sum_{c \in C_b} n_{c,t} Y_{c,b,r}^{\omega} \le X_{t,b} + X'_{t,b} \quad \forall t \in T, b \in B, \omega \in \Omega$$
(17)

$$\sum_{b \in B_r^{\omega}} \sum_{c \in C_b} pkill^{\omega}_{c,b,r} Y_{c,b,r}^{\omega} \ge thres_r - \delta_r^{\omega} \quad \forall r \in R^T \in R^{T,\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$$
(18)

$$\sum_{b \in B_r^{\omega}} \sum_{c \in C_b} Y_{c,b,r}^{\omega} \le 1 \quad \forall r \in \mathbb{R}^{T,\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$$
(19)

$$Y_{c,b,r}^{\omega} \in \{0,1\} \quad \forall c \in C, b \in B, r \in \mathbb{R}^{T,\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$$

$$\tag{20}$$

$$X_{t,b}, X'_{t,b} \ge 0$$
 and integer $\forall t \in T, b \in B$ (21)

$$\delta_r^{\omega} \ge 0 \quad \forall \mathbf{r} \in \mathbf{R}^{1,\omega}, \omega \in \Omega \tag{22}$$

4. Discussion

The objective function (13) minimizes the cost of allocated torpedoes, from inventory or purchased, and the expected cost of not meeting the probability of kill threshold, including red submarines that are targetable and not targetable. The latter expected cost is based on the deviation between the achieved probability of kill and the desired threshold.

Constraint (14) ensures the total cost of torpedoes purchased does not exceed the budget. Constraints (15) ensure that all torpedoes that are allocated, when not purchased, are in inventory. Constraints (16) limit the total number of torpedoes carried by a *b* shooter to its capacity. Constraints (17) limit the number of torpedoes within the torpedo combinations used in engagements by a blue shooter for whichever scenario occurs to the number of torpedoes allocated to that shooter. Constraints (18) calculates the deviation when the combination of torpedoes expended on a red target fails to achieve a specified probability of kill for any given scenario. Of note, this equation could be eliminated and the deviation δ_{r}^{o} easily precalculated for every candidate combination *c*: deviation is 0 if *c* meets or exceeds the threshold, or the shortfall otherwise. That would allow for any deviation to be penalized nonlinearly (which we do not in our computational experience, but is a straightforward extension). Constraints (19) ensure that at most one combination of torpedoes is used to engage a red target for any scenario.

Lastly, Constraints (20) to (22) include variable domains.

D. DETERMINISTIC MODELS

Later in Chapter IV, we compare the solutions from the stochastic models to deterministic solutions found by solving versions of TASOM-1 and TASOM-2 for one scenario. In the deterministic version of both TASOM-1 and TASOM-2, the scenario set is a singleton, $\Omega = \{\hat{\omega}\}$, and $prob^{\hat{\omega}} = 1$. That is, we assume "perfect information" about a certain scenario $\hat{\omega}$. Sometimes $\hat{\omega}$ may be one of the original scenarios (in order to analyze the value of perfect information); others, $\hat{\omega}$ may refer to a hybrid scenario (such as to analyze the value of the stochastic solution). The objective function for the deterministic version of TASOM-1 minimizes the cost of torpedoes allocated, from inventory or purchased, and the cost (instead of expected cost) of not meeting the probability of kill threshold.

IV. RESULTS AND ANALYSIS

We present a case designed to represent an ASW operation where several ASW units are patrolling an area for adversary submarines. For this case, we randomly generate 100 scenarios where different adversary submarines appear to the ASW units. We use unclassified, notional data of inventories, costs, capabilities, and threats. Using this test case, we first determine the value of using TASOM over the deterministic approach of planning. We then explore how our models can be used to inform torpedo allocation and budgeting decisions.

A. BASELINE DATA

All input data for the models are contained in a multi-sheet Microsoft Excel workbook (Microsoft Corporation 2022). Inputs can easily be changed by the user to consider more torpedo variants, shooter platforms, target types, individual blues, and individual reds.

Our notional case considers three different torpedo variants, ten individual blue shooters available for the campaign, and twenty individual red targets that can deploy in a scenario. Mod 0 and mod 1 torpedoes have a pre-existing inventory; any mod 2 torpedoes must be purchased (at a nominal price of \$2 million per unit). There is a notional cost to load torpedoes from inventory (in order to prevent extra torpedoes from being included in a solution loadout plan); this cost is not applied to the budget limit. Torpedo inventory and purchasing costs are listed in Table 1. Torpedo loading cost is assumed the same for all torpedoes and listed in Table 2, along with budget for purchase of new torpedoes.

Torpedo Data						
torpedo_type	inventory					
mod_0	0.005	30				
mod_1	0.008	30				
mod_2	2	0				

Table 1.Torpedo inventory and cost data

_	
	Misc Data
purchasing budget (\$ millions)	loading cost for owned torpedoes (\$ millions
25	0.00

Table 2.Budget and torpedo loading cost data.

Table 3 lists the capacity and salvo restrictions for each of the three different blue platform types. The probability of kill of a torpedo depends on the variant, the platform type of the shooter, and the submarine type of the target; these data are listed in Table 4.

Table 3.Platform data

Platform Data						
platform_type	torpedo capacity	max salvo size				
ship	6	6				
helo	15	2				
p8	50	5				

Table 5 lists the ten blue shooters considered in our test case. All ship units have an embarked helicopter detachment. Table 6 lists the individual red target data. Of the twenty reds, ten are classified as type 1 submarines, seven as type 2, and three as type 3. The commander's desired probability of kill threshold is set to 0.9 for all threats, and the dollar penalty is applied for not meeting that threshold: the entire threshold is penalized in TASOM-1, but only the shortfall (unmet fraction) is penalized in TASOM-2. In TASOM-1, the maximum number of blues that can engage the same red is explicitly set by the user. We set this value to one in all runs for our test case. This input is implicit in TASOM-2: it is dictated by the generated candidate torpedo mixes for each engagement. In our computational runs we have generated mixes limited to one blue shooter.

Pkill Data							
platform_type	sub_type	torpedo_type	pkill				
ship	type1	mod_0	0.13				
ship	type1	mod_1	0.16				
ship	type1	mod_2	0.2				
ship	type2	mod_0	0.13				
ship	type2	mod_1	0.16				
ship	type2	mod_2	0.2				
ship	type3	mod_0	0.19				
ship	type3	mod_1	0.2				
ship	type3	mod_2	0.4				
p8	type1	mod_0	0.29				
p8	type1	mod_1	0.3				
p8	type1	mod_2	0.6				
p8	type2	mod_0	0.34				
p8	type2	mod_1	0.35				
p8	type2	mod_2	0.65				
p8	type3	mod_0	0.39				
p8	type3	mod_1	0.4				
p8	type3	mod_2	0.7				
helo	type1	mod_0	0.29				
helo	type1	mod_1	0.3				
helo	type1	mod_2	0.6				
helo	type2	mod_0	0.34				
helo	type2	mod_1	0.35				
helo	type2	mod_2	0.65				
helo	type3	mod_0	0.39				
helo	type3	mod_1	0.4				
helo	type3	mod_2	0.7				

Table 4.Probability of kill data

Table 5.Individual shooter data

Individual Blue Data							
blue name	embarked unit	platform_type	area				
p1		p8	theater1				
p2		p8	theater1				
ddg1	helo1	ship	theater1				
helo1		helo	theater1				
ddg2	helo2	ship	theater1				
helo2		helo	theater1				
ddg3	helo3	ship	theater1				
helo3		helo	theater1				
ddg4	helo4	ship	theater1				
helo4		helo	theater1				

	Individual Red Data							
red name	sub_type	area	desired pkill	max # of blues that can engage the same red sub	penalty for not reaching desired pkill (\$ million)			
r1	type1	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r2	type1	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r3	type1	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r4	type1	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r5	type1	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r6	type1	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r7	type1	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r8	type1	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r9	type1	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r10	type1	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r11	type2	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r12	type2	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r13	type2	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r14	type2	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r15	type2	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r16	type2	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r17	type2	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r18	type3	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r19	type3	theater1	0.9	1	100			
r20	type3	theater1	0.9	1	100			

Table 6.Individual target data

B. SCENARIO GENERATION

From the abovementioned baseline data, the user can generate scenarios either manually or randomly. Manually creating a scenario may be preferable if only a few defined scenarios are to be considered and probabilities of occurrence are known. For other cases, we have developed a random scenario generator function. This function allows many scenarios to be created according to some additional parameters provided by the user via the input file. The scenario generator function writes the scenarios to its own data sheet in the same excel workbook as the rest of the input data for the test case. The user can then review and modify the generated scenario data, if desired. For each scenario, the scenario generator function determines (and records):

- 1. How many and which specific red targets deploy.
- Which blue shooters, if classified as a ship, are preemptively killed. Note: if the killed shooter is a blue ship, its embarked helicopter is also considered killed.

- 3. For every surviving blue shooter and deployed red target, whether the shooter detects and can engage the target. Note: if a ship can engage a target, its embarked helicopter can also engage it.
- 4. All the targets each shooter could kill, the targets that are "undetected" (i.e., untargeted), and which shooters are killed.

For our baseline test case we generate 100 equally probable scenarios according to the parameters defined for the case, summarized in Table 7. In this example, the given inputs specify that, from the fleet of twenty red targets, a random selection of five to ten targets can deploy in every scenario. Any blue ship is killed prior to engagement with 10% probability. Among those surviving, every blue ship detects a red target in the same area with 40% probability, and the same occurs for every MH-60R. For the P-8s, the probability is 60%. We assume only platforms that have detected the target are allowed to engage it.

Table 7	Scenario o	penerator	innuts
14010 /.	Section 10 g	Semerator	mputo

	Scenario Generator Inputs							
	number of min reds max reds probability blue ship probability blue probability blue helo probability p8							
seed #	scenarios	deployed	deployed	killed	ship detects	detects	detects	
1234	100	5	10	0.1	0.4	0.4		0.6

A sample of resulting scenario data output is presented in Figure 1. Each scenario is defined in a row and each blue shooter has a column where the reds that it can engage (for that scenario) are listed in the corresponding cell, separated by commas. Note, in this figure, the columns for "ddg2," "helo2," "ddg3," "helo3," and "ddg4" are hidden and only the first thirty scenarios are visible. For example, in scenario "1," platform "ddg1" can shoot at red targets "r3," "r6," and "r2;" all red targets are detected (thus can be attacked) by some blue shooter; and, two blue shooters ("ddg2" and "helo2" are killed, noting that the latter was embarked on the former). On the other hand, in scenario "15," red target "r13" is in the area, but undetected; and, blue platform "ddg3" and its "helo3" are killed. All scenarios have probability 1%. After the generation process, the planner may edit these scenario inputs in Excel (along with any of the other input data) before running TASOM.

	Α	В	С	D	E	F	L	М	N
1		prob	p1	p2	ddg1	helo1	helo4	undetected	blues killed
2	1	0.01	r3,r2,r18,r13,r17	r3,r18,r1,r4,r6,r13,r17	r3,r6,r2	r3,r2,r18,r1,r6,r17	r3,r18,r1,r4,r13,r17		helo2,ddg2
3	2	0.01	r13,r17,r16	r9,r13,r16	r9,r17,r4,r16	r9,r17,r4,r16	r13,r4,r16		
4	3	0.01	r11,r5,r18,r12,r6	r3,r14,r5,r11,r18,r7,r6	r3,r11,r5,r7,r4	r3,r11,r5,r7,r4	r14,r11,r5,r18,r4		
5	4	0.01	r6,r17	r19,r11,r17	r3,r13,r17	r3,r19,r6,r13,r17	r6,r19,r13		
6	5	0.01	r3,r14,r20,r1,r6,r15	r3,r14,r20,r1,r4,r6,r8,r15	r6,r15	r14,r5,r4,r6,r8,r15	r3,r14,r19,r20,r4,r1,r8		
7	6	0.01	r18,r17,r1,r15	r13,r10,r1,r15	r3,r14,r10,r13,r15	r3,r9,r14,r10,r1,r13,r15	r14,r17,r10,r1		
8	7	0.01	r11,r10,r18,r5,r1,r7	r5,r20,r12,r1,r7,r6	r6,r11,r12	r11,r10,r20,r12,r6	r5,r10,r18,r12,r1,r7,r6		
9	8	0.01	r6,r8,r12,r18	r6,r19,r8	r11	r3,r8,r11,r7	r3,r11,r18,r12,r7,r6		
10	9	0.01	r3,r20,r14,r6	r14,r6,r17,r8,r15	r6,r20,r8	r20,r6,r17,r8,r15	r3,r14,r20,r17,r8,r15		helo3,ddg3
11	10	0.01	r3,r14,r10,r20,r4,r6	r3,r14,r4	r6,r14,r20,r17	r14,r10,r20,r12,r6,r17	r12,r20,r10,r4		
12	11	0.01	r14,r8,r18,r15	r8,r20,r18	r14,r15	r14,r18,r15	r14,r20,r18		
13	12	0.01	r1	r1,r15	r17	r14,r17,r15	r2,r17,r1,r15		
14	13	0.01	r5,r10,r2,r12,r13	r10,r13,r5,r2	r11,r13,r5,r12	r11,r10,r5,r12,r13	r11,r5		
15	14	0.01	r19,r5,r4	r3,r14,r12,r1,r17	r19,r17,r12,r4	r3,r14,r19,r12,r4,r17	r14,r19,r5,r1,r17,r8		
16	15	0.01	r9,r14,r10,r18,r6,r15	r6,r9,r4	r6,r10	r6,r10	r10,r12,r4,r6,r8,r15	r13	helo3,ddg3
17	16	0.01	r9,r5,r15	r9,r15	r9,r5	r9,r5,r8,r15	r3,r5,r8		
18	17	0.01	r3,r14,r2,r12,r1	r9,r2,r12,r4,r6	r9,r1,r4	r3,r9,r11,r2,r12,r1,r4,r6	r3,r11,r2,r12,r6		
19	18	0.01	r9,r1,r7,r13,r17	r9,r11,r1,r6,r17	r6,r11,r10,r7	r6,r11,r10,r7	r9,r10,r7,r6,r13,r17,r15		
20	19	0.01	r3,r19,r11	r3,r11,r10,r12	r3,r11,r5,r12	r3,r11,r5,r12	r19,r5,r12		
21	20	0.01	r11,r5,r18	r9,r5,r18,r16,r17,r15	r18,r15	r9,r11,r18,r16,r6,r17,r15	r9,r5,r18,r17,r15		
22	21	0.01	r1,r17,r7	r1,r7,r8,r15	r13,r17	r13,r17	r1,r7,r13,r17,r8		helo3,ddg3
23	22	0.01	r6,r14,r17,r15	r14,r11,r2,r12,r1,r17,r15	r14,r12,r6,r17,r15	r14,r12,r1,r6,r17,r15	r14,r10,r2,r12,r1,r6,r17,r15		
24	23	0.01	r9,r14,r20,r12,r6,r8	r9,r20,r12,r8	r5	r9,r5,r20,r4,r8	r6,r9,r14,r5		
25	24	0.01	r3,r5,r16,r20,r12,r8	r3,r5,r2,r18,r20,r12,r6,r8	r8	r3,r5,r2,r7,r6,r8	r6,r2,r16		
26	25	0.01	r8,r17,r2,r12	r3,r10,r20,r4,r7,r6,r17,r8	r10,r6,r2,r4	r10,r2,r20,r4,r6,r17	r17,r2,r4,r7		
27	26	0.01	r1,r4,r6,r17,r8	r16,r1,r4,r6,r17	r6	r6,r4,r16	r18,r16,r1,r17,r8		
28	27	0.01	r3,r19,r16,r1,r7	r6,r5,r17,r1	r3,r5,r16	r3,r5,r16	r3,r16,r1,r7,r6		
29	28	0.01	r3,r5,r18,r12,r13	r13,r5,r18	r5,r12	r3,r5,r18,r12,r13	r3,r18		
30	29	0.01	r5,r10,r18,r20,r12,r1,r4,r6	r20,r10,r1	r6	r5,r10,r18,r1,r6	r5,r10,r18,r12,r6,r8		helo3,ddg3
31	30	0.01	r14.r10.r18.r7.r6.r17	r14.r5.r17.r18	r6.r14.r5.r17	r14.r5.r6.r13.r17	r14.r5.r10.r6.r13.r17		
	•		P PKIII B R Misc	Scenario Generator Inputs	Scenarios +		÷ •		

Figure 1. Sample of scenario data

C. IMPLEMENTATION

Both TASOM models have been implemented using Pyomo, a Python optimization modeling package (Hart et al. 2011, 2017), using CPLEX (IBM 2022) as the core solver. Hardware includes a personal laptop with 16 gigabytes of random-access memory available and eight processors.

In our notional, baseline test case with three torpedo variants, ten blue shooters, and twenty red targets, containing 100 scenarios, the number of variables and constraints in both models are listed in Table 8.

TASOM-1 solves to optimality in 112 seconds; TASOM-2 solves in 15 seconds. The computational runtimes in seconds are listed in Table 9. Additional runtimes for other test cases with the same assets but 500 and 1,000 scenarios, respectively, are included for comparison.

	continuous variables	binary variables	integer variables	constraints
TASOM-1	0	4,548	11,433	8,320
TASOM-2	758	15,9263	60	4,529

Table 8.Computational data for baseline case with 100 scenarios

Table 9.Comparison of computation times for baseline case with various
number of scenarios

	TASOM-1					TAS	OM-2	
blue	mod_0	mod_1	mod_2		blue	mod_0	mod_1	mod_2
p1	5	15	4		p1	12	10	3
p2	10	15	5		p2	10	12	2
ddg1	0	0	0		ddg1	0	0	0
helo1	0	0	0		helo1	2	0	2
ddg2	0	0	0		ddg2	6	0	0
helo2	0	0	0		helo2	0	0	2
ddg3	0	0	0		ddg3	0	6	0
helo3	0	0	2		helo3	0	0	0
ddg4	0	0	0		ddg4	0	6	0
helo4	0	0	0		helo4	0	2	0

D. OUTPUT DISPLAY

Results are written to a separate multi-sheet Excel workbook. The optimal "torpedo loadout plan," or the type and quantity of torpedoes assigned to each individual blue shooter for the baseline budget of \$25M, is listed in Table 10. For example, TASOM-1 allocates five mod 0, fifteen mod 1, and four mod 2 torpedoes to the P-8 squadron "p1." TASOM-2 allocates twelve mod 0, ten mod 1, and three mod 2 torpedoes to "p1." Of note, TASOM-1 only allocates two torpedoes to a unit that is not a P-8 ("helo3") while TASOM-2 allocates to eight of the ten blue shooters. A sample from the blue-red engagement results, with the type and quantity of torpedoes that each shooter expends on each engaged target, by scenario, is presented in Table 11. Both the TASOM-1 and TASOM-2 engagement results are structured similarly: each row contains an engagement, and engagements are ordered and grouped by scenario. For example, for the TASOM-1 results, in scenario "1," "p1" engages "r3," "r13," "r17," and "r2." Specifically, "p1" engages "r3" with two mod 0, two mod 1, and one mod 2 torpedoes.

A sample from the "miss" results is presented in Table 12. For TASOM-1, the miss results indicate whether a detected red target was missed or not in each scenario. For example, in scenario "1," every detected red target is engaged and meets the desired probability of kill threshold. In scenario "2," however, "r4" is detected, but not engaged. For TASOM-2, the miss results report the shortfall from the desired probability of kill threshold for every detected red target in each scenario. For example, in scenario "2," "r13," "r17," "r16," and "r9" are engaged with a torpedo combination that meets the desired probability of kill threshold, but "r4" is engaged with a combination that only achieves a probability of 0.84, or a shortfall of 0.06. For both models, the miss results do not list the undetected red targets (that are automatically missed); that information is reported in the input scenario data.

A sample from the summary results is presented in Table 13. For TASOM-1, the objective value (in millions of dollars) and the total number of red targets missed are reported for each scenario. Recall, the objective value for each scenario is the sum of (i) the total cost of torpedoes purchased; (ii) the total cost of loading torpedoes from inventory; and (iii) the penalty incurred from missing any red targets (detected or undetected). For example, in scenario "1," the objective value is \$22.0045M. \$22M is the cost for purchasing eleven mod 2 torpedoes and the remainder is the cost of loading out 45 torpedoes from inventory as there were no missed targets in this scenario. The last row reports the expected objective value, the number of each torpedo type used from inventory, the number of each torpedo type purchased, and the average number of red targets missed in a scenario.

For TASOM-2, the objective value (in millions of dollars) and the average shortfall from the desired probability of kill are reported for each scenario. Recall, the objective value for each scenario is the sum of (i) the total cost of torpedoes purchased; (ii) the total cost of loading torpedoes from inventory; and (iii) the penalty incurred from any probability of kill shortfalls for any red targets (for an undetected target, the value of the entire threshold is penalized). For example, in scenario "2," the objective value is \$24.054M. \$18.048M is the cost for purchasing nine mod 2 torpedoes and six mod 1 torpedoes, \$6M is the penalty for the 0.06 shortfall on the one under-targeted engagement, and the remainder is the cost of loading out 60 torpedoes from inventory. The last row reports the expected objective value, the number of each torpedo type used from inventory, the number of each torpedo type purchased, and the expected average probability of kill shortfall.

	TASC	DM-1		TASOM-2						
blue	mod_0	mod_1	mod_2	blue	mod_0	mod_1	mod_2			
p1	5	15	4	p1	12	10	3			
p2	10	15	5	p2	10	12	2			
ddg1	0	0	0	ddg1	0	0	0			
helo1	0	0	0	helo1	2	0	2			
ddg2	0	0	0	ddg2	6	0	0			
helo2	0	0	0	helo2	0	0	2			
ddg3	0	0	0	ddg3	0	6	0			
helo3	0	0	2	helo3	0	0	0			
ddg4	0	0	0	ddg4	0	6	0			
helo4	0	0	0	helo4	0	2	0			

Table 10.Stochastic loadout plan for budget level of \$25M

	TASOM-1							TASOM-2						
	Α	В	С	D	E	F			Α	В	С	D	E	F
1	scenario	blue	red	mod_0	mod_1	mod_2		1	scenario	blue	red	mod_0	mod_1	mod_2
2	1	p1	r3	2	2	1		2	1	p1	r18	2	3	0
3	1	p1	r13	0	3	1		3	1	p1	r2	2	2	1
4	1	p1	r17	0	4	1		4	1	p1	r3	2	2	1
5	1	p1	r2	0	4	1		5	1	p1	r17	4	0	1
6	1	p2	r6	0	4	1		6	1	p2	r4	2	2	1
7	1	p2	r4	0	4	1		7	1	p2	r13	0	5	0
8	1	p2	r18	5	0	0		8	1	p2	r6	2	2	1
9	1	p2	r1	0	4	1		9	1	helo1	r1	0	0	2
10	2	p1	r16	0	0	3		10	2	p1	r13	4	0	1
11	2	p1	r17	0	4	1		11	2	p1	r17	4	0	1
12	2	p2	r13	4	0	1		12	2	p1	r16	2	1	1
13	2	p2	r9	2	0	2		13	2	p2	r9	0	4	1
14	3	p1	r6	0	4	1		14	2	nelo1	r4	0	0	2
15	3	p1	r5	3	0	2		15	3	p1	r11	0	5	0
16	3	p1	r18	0	5	0		10	3	p1	r12	4	0	1
17	3	p1	r12	0	3	1		17	3	p1	ro 	2	2	1
18	3	p2	r3	0	4	1		18	3	p1 -2	r5 =10	2	2	1
19	3	p2	r14	0	4	1		19	3	p2	118	2	0	0
20	3	p2	r7	0	4	1		20	3	p2	13 r14	2	2	1
21	3	p2	r11	3	0	2		21	3	p2	r14 r7	0	с л	1
22	4	p1	r6	0	4	1		22	2	pz bolo1	r/	0	4	1
23	4	p1	r17	0	0	3		23	3	holo2	r2	0	0	2
24	4	p2	r19	0	5	0		24	3	n1	r17	1	0	1
25	4	p2	r11	4	0	1		26	4	p1	r6		4	1
26	5	p1	r3	0	4	1		20	4	n2	r11	0	3	1
27	5	p1	r14	0	3	1		28	4	n2	r19	0	5	0
28	5	p1	r15	0	3	1		29	4	helo1	r3	0	0	2
29	5	p1	r1	0	4	1		30	4	helo2	r13	0	0	2
30	5	p2	rð "c	0	4	1		31	5	p1	r3	2	2	- 1
31	5	p2	ro	0	4	1		32	5	p1	r1	3	1	1
32	5	p2 ~2	r4	0	4	1		33	5	p1	r6	2	2	1
35	5	pz holo2	r10	5	0	0		34	5	p1	r15	0	5	0
34	5	nei03	r19	0	0	2		35	5	p2	r4	2	2	1
26	0	p1	r17	0	1	1	_	36	5	p2	r20	5	0	0
50	0	-1 -1	-4	2		1	-	37	ς	n2	rR	2	2	1
	•	То	rpedo A	llocation	Enga	gements	5		• •	Tor	pedo A	llocation	Engag	ements

Table 11.Sample of engagement results

		TASC	DM-1		TASOM-2				
	А	В	С	I		А	В	С	
1	scenario	red	Not Engaged			scenario	red	Deviation from	
2	1	r3	(D	1			Desired Pkill	
3	1	rб	(D	2	1	r18	(0
4	1	r4		D	3	1	r2	(D
5	1	r13	(D	4	1	r4	(0
6	1	r18	(00	5	1	r3	(o
7	1	r17	(D	6	1	r13	0.016029063	3
8	1	r2	(0	7	1	r17	(O
9	1	r1	l	D	8	1	r1	0.0	6
10	2	r4		1	9	1	r6	(o
11	2	r13	(00	10	2	r4	0.0	6
12	2	r16	1	0	11	2	r13	(0
13	2	r9	1	0	12	2	r17	(D
14	2	r17	(0	13	2	r16	(D
15	3	r3		0	14	2	r9	(0
16	3	r14			15	3	r18	(0
1/	3	rb			16	3	r11	0.016029063	3
18	3	rs 7			17	3	r2	0.0	6
19	3	r/			18	3	r4	0.0	6
20		-4		1	19	3	r12	(0
21		r4 -19		1	20	3	r3	(0
22	2	-2		1	21	3	r14	0.016029063	3
23	2	12 r10		1	22	3	r7	(00
24	3	r2		1	23	3	r6	(0
25	4	r6		1 n	24	3	r5	(0
20		r10		n	25	4	r11	(0
28		r11		n	26	4	r3	0.0	6
29		r13		1	27	4	r13	0.022	5
30		r17		- D	28	4	r1/	(0
31	5	r8		0	29	4	rb -10		0
32	5	r3		0	30	4	-4		0
33	5	r14		D	51	5	r4 r10		0
34	5	r6	1	D	32	5	r3		0
25	-	-C	lle settiene in an	1	55	3	Torpada	Allocation Mice	
-	•	Torpedo A	Milliocation Mi	sses	-		Torpedo.		-5

Table 12.Sample of miss results

E. COMPARISON OF DETERMINISTIC VS. STOCHASTIC MODELING

We first determine the value of (hypothetical) complete knowledge of the adversary before making loadout decisions. To do that, we optimize for one scenario at a time (therefore obtaining different loadouts, each one suited to a particular scenario). This solution by scenario is not implementable in real life, given the loadouts must be established before the actual scenario unveils. Nevertheless, it gives us an ideal objective value (by individual scenario and in expected value). We then compare it to the loadout plan from the stochastic solution, which is a compromise among all 100 scenarios. In addition, we consider two implementable loadout solutions, derived from typical deterministic manual planning: the "average loadout" plan and the loadout plan from the "all-targets" scenario.

		А	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1
			obj value (\$	mod_0	mod_1	mod_2	mod_0	mod_1	mod_2	Total Reds
			millions)	from inv	from inv	from inv	purchased	purchased	purchased	Not
	1									Engaged
	2	1	22.0045							0
	3	2	112.0045							1
	4	3	202.0045							2
	5	4	202.0045							2
TASOM-1	6	5	112.0045							1
	96	95	112.0045							1
	97	96	202.0045							2
	98	97	112.0045							1
	99	98	22.0045							0
	100	99	202.0045							2
	101	100	292.0045							3
	102		Expected: 114.7045	15	30	0	0	0	11	0.99
		А	B ahiyalya (¢	C med 0	D mod 1	E mad 3	F mod 0	G	H mad 2	Avg Pkill
	1		millions)	from inv	from inv	from inv	purchased	purchased	purchased	Deviation
	2	1	25.65691							0.0095
	3	2	24.054							0.012
	4	3	33.25981							0.01521
	5	4	26.304							0.01375
$\Gamma \Lambda SOM_2$	6	5	27.28132							0.00923
I ASOM-2	96	95	24.054							0.012
	97	96	34.90573							0.01685
			43.1838							0.0359
	98	97								0.00321
	98 99	97 98	19.65691							
	98 99 100	97 98 99	19.65691 49.1838							0.04447
	98 99 100 101	97 98 99 100	19.65691 49.1838 53.03671							0.04447 0.03498

Table 13.Sample of summary results

1. Expected Value of Perfect Information

The expected value of perfect information (EVPI) assesses how much better (in terms of expected cost from purchasing torpedoes and missing targets) a torpedo loadout plan would be if a planner had perfect scenario information beforehand (Avriel and Williams 1970). The EVPI is found by subtracting the expected optimal deterministic cost from the optimal stochastic cost. By denoting z^{Ω} as the optimal objective function value to a given stochastic model (such as TASOM-1 or TASOM-2) with scenarios in set Ω

(and, accordingly, $z^{\{\omega\}}$ being such objective for a deterministic case for single scenario ω), EVPI can be defined as:

$$EVPI = z^{\Omega} - \sum_{\omega \in \Omega} prob^{\omega} z^{\{\omega\}}.$$

The EVPI for our notional case, and budgets of \$25M and \$10M, respectively, is presented in Table 14. If, for example, a planner is using TASOM-1 and has a purchasing budget of \$25M, and perfect information could be attained for less than \$14.12M, that would be a worthwhile investment. Otherwise, using the stochastic loadout is more cost efficient. Note that, for this problem, having perfect information for planning purposes would involve knowing with certainty all of the following: how many and which red submarines are deployed to an area; which blue shooters will detect and engage them; and, *then*, appropriately allocating torpedoes to ships and squadrons.

Table 14.Expected cost from stochastic and deterministic models, and value
of perfect information, for budget levels of \$25M and \$10M

		TASOM-1		TASOM-2			
	Stochastic	Deterministic	EVPI	Stochastic	Deterministic	EVPI	
Budget \$25M	\$114.70M	\$100.58M	\$14.12M	\$33.04M	\$22.35M	\$10.68M	
Budget \$10M	\$199.90M	\$194.56M	\$5.34M	\$38.61M	\$27.90M	\$10.70M	

2. Average Loadout vs. Stochastic Loadout

Typically, the value of the stochastic solution (VSS) is assessed by comparing the objective value of the stochastic solution to the value of the deterministic solution that replaces the uncertain variable in the problem with its expected value (Birge and Louveaux 1997). The typical approach consists of: (a) defining an "average-demand scenario," which we denote $\overline{\omega}$; (b) calculating its first-stage solution, \overline{X} (loadouts) using a deterministic version of TASOM; (c) fixing that loadout solution in TASOM in order to calculate the second-stage (WTA) solution by scenario; and (d) comparing each of those individually, and on the aggregate, to the full stochastic (TASOM) solution.

However, in our problem, the uncertainty relates to which red targets appear and which blue shooters can engage them; thus, finding the "average" scenario is somewhat arbitrary: we could consider $\overline{\omega}$ where blue shooters need to kill a fraction of each red target; but, that does not seem to represent a sensible scenario in itself. Or, $\overline{\omega}$ where blue shooters need to kill an "average subset" of red targets (such as those that appear most frequently); but, that makes the deterministic solution myopic to the existence of other red targets.

Thus, we replace steps (a) and (b) above by a single step that calculates the average loadout \overline{X} across all scenarios directly, when each scenario is (deterministically) solved for optimality. Specifically, we use the average number of torpedoes allocated to each blue shooter in the 100 scenarios, and refer to this as the "average loadout plan," \overline{X} .

Loadout plans (total torpedoes by type) for TASOM-1 and TASOM-2 are summarized in Table 15, including: (i) the stochastic loadout with the baseline budget of \$25M; (ii) the stochastic loadout where the budget is limited based on the cost of torpedoes purchased in the abovementioned (deterministic) average loadout plan, \overline{X} ; and (iii) the average loadout plan itself.

Here, the VSS is found by subtracting the optimal stochastic cost from the expected cost of using the average loadout:

$$VSS = \sum_{\omega \in \Omega} prob^{\omega} z^{\{\omega\}}(\overline{X}) - z^{\Omega},$$

where $z^{\{\omega\}}(\overline{X})$ still refers to the optimal objective function value of a (deterministic) TASOM for single scenario ω , but with its loadout variables fixed to \overline{X} .

The larger the VSS, the greater the justification to use a stochastic programming approach in planning instead of using the simpler approach of planning for the average scenario. The VSS for our notional case, and budgets of \$25M and \$10M, respectively, is presented in Table 16. For example, when planning with TASOM-1 and a \$25M budget, using the average loadout will cost an additional \$92.60M than if the stochastic loadout was used.

Table 15.Summary (total torpedoes) for: deterministic, fixed average
loadout plan with unlimited budget; stochastic loadout plan when
budget is limited by the deterministic solution; and stochastic, for
a \$25M budget

		TASOM-1		TASOM-2			
	Deterministic (fixed average loadout)	Stochastic (budget as in deterministic)	Stochastic (\$25M budget)	Deterministic (fixed average loadout)	Stochastic (budget as in deterministic)	Stochastic (\$25M budget)	
mod 0	2	2	15	5	14	30	
mod 1	23	26	30	24	64	36	
mod 2	6	6	11	5	4	9	

Table 16.Value of stochastic solution over manual planning with
deterministic, fixed average loadout plan, for budget limited by the
deterministic solution, and for budget of \$25M

		TASOM-1		TASOM-2			
	Stochastic	Deterministic	VSS	Stochastic	Deterministic	VSS	
Limited budget	\$179.40M	\$207.30M	\$27.90M	\$40.50M	\$103.24M	\$62.74M	
\$25M	\$114.70M	\$207.30M	\$92.60M	\$33.04M	\$103.24M	\$70.21M	

A more detailed comparison of each loadout performance for TASOM-1 is shown in Figure 2. Performance is evaluated in TASOM-1 by the number of targets where the probability of kill threshold is not met at all, or by the number of targets missed, in a scenario. Plotted are exceedance functions that show the probability (percentage of scenarios) where the number of targets missed exceeds a given value. The stochastic loadout with a budget of \$25M performs, as expected, significantly better than the average loadout which only expends \$12M: two or more submarines are missed in 65% of the scenarios under the deterministic loadout; only 25% under the stochastic with the baseline budget. However, when TASOM-1 is forced to use the budget dictated by the deterministic model, its improvement over the average loadout plan is diminished. Nevertheless, it is important to remark that the deterministic solution is unable to take advantage of additional budget, whereas TASOM-1 does.



Figure 2. TASOM-1: Exceedance functions for misses for: deterministic, fixed average loadout plan with unlimited budget; stochastic loadout plan when budget is limited by the deterministic solution; and stochastic loadout plan for a \$25M budget

The comparison for each loadout performance for TASOM-2 is shown in Figure 3. Note for TASOM-2, the performance is evaluated by the average shortfall in meeting the probability of kill thresholds for all targets in a scenario. Plotted are exceedance functions that show the probability the average shortfall exceeds a value, under a given loadout. The difference between the stochastic, even with a similar budget of \$10M, and the average loadout performance is significant: the average probability of kill shortfall is 0.1 or greater for 50% of the scenarios under the average loadout; only 2% of the scenarios under the stochastic with a limited budget. The expected shortfall is 0.1144 under the average loadout and 0.0365 under the stochastic with a limited budget.



Figure 3. TASOM-2: Exceedance functions for average probability of kill shortfall: deterministic, fixed average loadout plan with unlimited budget; stochastic loadout plan when budget is limited by the deterministic solution; and stochastic loadout plan for a \$25M budget

3. Loadout from All-Targets Scenario vs. Stochastic Loadout

Another important study, from a planner's perspective, consists of calculating a solution that plans against a scenario consisting of all targets. The "all-targets" scenario is defined as a deterministic scenario where all blue shooters are alive and have detected and able to engage all twenty red targets.

We compare the deterministic solution that plans for the all-targets scenario with the TASOM-1 and TASOM-2 solutions for the same 100 simulated scenarios as above. We use budgets of \$25M and \$10M. The loadouts recommended by this analysis are summarized in Table 17. (Of course, TASOM solutions for a budget level of \$25M are unchanged with respect to the previous analysis.)

		Т	ASOM-1	TASOM-2			
		Stochastic Deterministic (all- targets loadout)		Stochastic	Deterministic (all- targets loadout)		
Budget \$25M	mod 0	15	26	30	35		
	mod 1	30	30	36	55		
	mod 2	11	12	9	10		
Budget	mod 0	10	15	30	22		
\$10IVI	mod 1	24	15	30	72		
	mod 2	5	5	5	3		

Table 17.Summary (total torpedoes) of the stochastic loadout plan and the
loadout plan from the all-targets scenario

As shown in Figure 4, for TASOM-1, with the budget of \$25M, the stochastic loadout only performs slightly better than the deterministic loadout planned for an all-targets scenario. However, the performance increase is more significant when the solutions with the \$10M budget are considered: two or more submarines are missed in 70% of the scenarios under the deterministic loadout; only 60% under the stochastic.

When we consider various budget levels, the performance of TASOM-1 loadout remains only marginally better over the deterministic, as shown in Figure 5. At a budget level of \$5M, the expected number of misses is 4.59 under the deterministic loadout and 5.15 under the stochastic loadout.



Figure 4. TASOM-1: Exceedance functions for misses for deterministic, fixed loadouts from all-targets scenario and stochastic loadouts, for \$25M and \$10M budgets



Figure 5. TASOM-1: Expected number of missed targets for various budget levels

The difference between the stochastic and the deterministic loadout performance is much more dramatic for TASOM-2, as shown in Figure 6. With a budget of \$10M the deterministic loadout produces an average probability of kill shortfall of 0.1 or greater for 65% of the scenarios; in contrast, in the stochastic models it is only 2% of the scenarios for the same budget. With a budget of \$10M, the expected average shortfall is 0.1421 under the deterministic loadout and 0.0317 under the stochastic loadout.

Of note, the deterministic and stochastic solutions for TASOM-2 do not have the same symmetric grouping as the solutions in TASOM-1. In all solutions using model TASOM-1, torpedoes are almost exclusively loaded out to P-8 squadrons. In our notional case, torpedoes from aircraft will result in higher probabilities of kill and P-8s have a greater max salvo size than a helicopter, an important consideration when only one ASW unit can engage a submarine. In TASOM-2, solutions utilize helicopters and ships in addition to P-8s; the deterministic solutions only use P-8s. For this reason, the stochastic loadout with a budget of \$10M is still able to perform better than the deterministic loadout with the greater budget of \$25M.

At all considered budget levels, the performance of TASOM-2 loadout remains significantly better over the deterministic version, as shown in Figure 7. For a budget of \$5M, the expected average probability of kill shortfall is 0.1463 under the deterministic loadout and 0.0526 under the stochastic loadout.

As discussed above, the deterministic solution for TASOM-2 only loads out torpedoes to P-8s. We consequently see very similar performances of the deterministic loadouts at different budget levels and the expected average shortfall for the deterministic loadout does not consistently decrease as the budget level increases: in fact, the expected average shortfall increases when the budget is raised from \$11M to \$15M. This is not necessarily a contradiction: the deterministic plan is created against an all-targets scenario and shortfall for that assumed scenario (not shown) actually decreases as budget increases. However, when that plan is tested against 100 specific scenarios, the shortfall need not be monotonic.



Figure 6. TASOM-2: Exceedance functions for average probability of kill shortfall for deterministic, fixed loadouts from all-targets scenario and stochastic loadouts, for \$25M and \$10M budgets



Figure 7. TASOM-2: Expected average probability of kill shortfall for various budget levels

F. SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

1. Varying Budget Level

Performance metrics can be compared at different budget levels to help inform torpedo budget decisions. In Figure 8, we see how increasing the budget yields improved performance for TASOM-2. For example, with a budget of \$8M, the average shortfall for the desired probability of kill is 0.02 (or greater) in 70% of the scenarios. With a budget of \$10M, that improves to 50% of the scenarios. Note that the loadout from using a budget of \$25M (our baseline budget), is not plotted as its performance is almost identical to that of a loadout from using a budget of \$20M.



Figure 8. TASOM-2: Exceedance functions for average probability of kill shortfall for stochastic loadouts for various budgets levels

2. Varying Desired Probability of Kill

Sensitivity analysis can also be conducted on the probability of kill threshold desired for red target engagements. Here, probability of kill thresholds for all targets have been uniformly adjusted. In Figure 9, when the desired probability of kill threshold is reduced to 0.85 (from the original 0.90 in all previous test cases), the number of mod 2

torpedoes purchased in TASOM-2 loadout plan is reduced. Specifically, for all budget levels (starting at \$5M), and for any probability of kill threshold (starting at 70%), a minimum of two mod 2 torpedoes are purchased by TASOM-2. This number increases to twelve mod 2 for 95% and \$25M, respectively.



Figure 9. TASOM-2: Number of mod 2 torpedoes purchased for different budget levels and desired probability of kill thresholds

3. Varying Effectiveness of Mod 2

We specify different, hypothetical probability of kill values of the mod 2 torpedo in Table 18. Note, the percentage increase of the mod 2 compared to the mod 1 applies uniformly for ship or air platforms, but differently against each target type. The percentage value shown in the table is the percent increases in probability of kill of a mod 2 torpedo from a mod 1 torpedo against a type 1 target. Of note, that percentage is reduced against type 2 and type 3 targets. For example, if the probability of kill increases by 100% (from a mod 1 probability of kill) with the mod 2 torpedo against a type 1, the probability of kill increases by only 90% against a type 2 target and 85% against a type 3 target. This roughly follows the performance of the mod 2 that we assumed in the baseline test case; the mod 2 exact probability of kill values used in the test case are not represented but are most similar to those at the 85% level.

In Figure 10, we vary the probability of kill of a mod 2 torpedo to find the number of mod 2 torpedoes purchased under different budget levels. Here, we keep our original desired probability of kill threshold of 0.90. When the mod 2 torpedo probability of kill improves by 25%, no mod 2 torpedoes are purchased, at any budget level. If the mod 2 improves by 40%, at most five torpedoes are purchased. When the mod 2 improves by 100%, we see that is no longer beneficial to buy more than eight mod 2 torpedoes at any budget level.

platform	alasa	mod		mod 2						
	class	mod U	mod 1	25% ^b	40%	55%	70%	85%	100% .32 .30 .37 .6	
ship	type1	.13ª	.16	.2	.22	.25	.27	.30	.32	
ship	type2	.13	.16	.18	.21	.23	.26	.28	.30	
ship	type3	.19	.2	.22	.25	.28	.31	.34	.37	
aircraft	type1	.29	.3	.38	.42	.47	.51	.56	.6	
aircraft	type2	.34	.35	.40	.46	.51	.56	.61	.67	
aircraft	type3	.39	.4	.44	.5	.56	.62	.68	.74	

Table 18.Probability of kill values of the mod 2 torpedo at various levels of
percentage increase over mod 1 probability of kill value

^a The probability of kill values for the mod 0 and mod 1 torpedoes are the same values used in previously presented test case.

^b The percentage value represented here is the increase from the mod 1 torpedo probability of kill against a type 1 target. Against a type 2 target, the percentage increase is 10% less; against a type 3 target, the percentage increase is 15% less.



Figure 10. TASOM-2: Number of mod 2 torpedoes purchased for different budget levels and probability of kill values of a mod 2 torpedo

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

V. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

A. SUMMARY

We have developed two different stochastic models that guide the optimal allocation of torpedoes to ASW units. The models seek to address an uncertain submarine threat while achieving a desired probability of kill threshold while not exceeding a budget and, when possible, minimizing cost. A notional test case demonstrates the value of using the stochastic models over the typical deterministic planning approach. The performance improves marginally with TASOM-1 (which focuses on expected number of threats that are targeted at the desired probability of kill levels), and significantly with TASOM-2 (which focuses on expected proximity to the desired probability of kill levels). Our models are combined with an accessible user interface, which facilitates a user with no programming experience to create their own case, quickly generate scenarios, and access pertinent results. The stochastic models developed in this research provide decision makers with a tool to conduct sensitivity analysis to guide torpedo allocation and budget decisions.

B. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE WORK

1. Further Development of TASOM-2

We recommend further development of TASOM-2 over TASOM-1. The soft constraint used for the desired probability of kill threshold is more realistic than the hard constraint in TASOM-1, where the desired probability of kill threshold must be achieved in an engagement (or no torpedoes are expended at all). Additionally, TASOM-2 solves significantly faster than TASOM-1 and has demonstrated greater performance improvements when compared to the deterministic model for the average loadout and "all-targets" loadout.

Recommended future work includes exploring the effects of penalizing the probability of kill shortfall differently. For example, an exponential penalty of degree n would incentivize spreading the probability of kill shortfall among different targets (n > 1) or concentrate them on fewer targets (n < 1). This would involve pre-calculating the penalty on the shortfall of a combination in an engagement (we already pre-calculate the

probability of kill as $pkill_{c,b,r}^{\infty}$, removing constraints (18), and modify the objective function (13) to:

$$\min_{X,X',\delta} \sum_{i} \sum_{b} (cost X_{i,b} + cost_{i} X'_{i,b}) + \sum_{\omega} \sum_{c \in C_{b}} \sum_{b \in B_{r}^{\omega}} prob_{\omega} penalty_{c,b,r}^{\omega} Y_{c,b,r}^{\omega} + \sum_{\omega} \sum_{r \in R^{\circ,\omega}} prob_{\omega} (\varepsilon_{r} thres_{r})^{n},$$

where parameter $penalty_{c,b,r}^{\omega} = [\varepsilon_{r} (thres_{r} - pkill_{c,b,r}^{\omega})]^{n}$. For example, penalizing the

probability of kill shortfall quadratically may be preferable if we prefer not to let one submarine escape without any engagement.

Additionally, replacing the purchasing cost of torpedoes, $cost_t$, in the objective function (13) with a nominal cost would facilitate more insightful analysis of the performance metrics of different torpedo loadouts. Constraint (14) already accounts for a purchasing budget and when conducting budget sensitivity analysis, the inclusion of the purchasing cost in the objective function is somewhat redundant.

2. Additional Cases and Real-World Data

Only one test case was considered in this thesis, but additional cases should be tested to verify model results. Additional cases can be expanded to consider more realistic ASW operations. In our case, all ASW units and all deployed adversary submarines were confined to one area. A more realistic case may involve ASW units patrolling their own separate areas, like in a barrier defense plan. Adversary submarines appearing in one of many areas can easily be controlled when creating scenarios. Additionally, friendly submarines, with their own, separate torpedo inventory, operating in their own, separate area, can be incorporated in a case to represent a more comprehensive ASW operation. Multiple cases with multiple areas can be run in a series to consider a campaign level problem in order to inform fleet wide torpedo allocation decisions.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Adamah S, Fitzpatrick S, Monroe D, Rielly R (2021) Optimizing heavy-weight torpedoes. Unpublished master's capstone project, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA.
- Avital I (2004) Two-period, stochastic supply-chain models with recourse for naval surface warfare. Master's thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, http://hdl.handle.net/10945/1707
- Avriel M, Willians AC (1970) The value of information and stochastic programming. Operations Research 18(5), https://www.jstor.org/stable/169369
- Birge JR, Louveaux F (1997) The value of information and the stochastic solution. Glynn P, Robinson S, eds. *Introduction to Stochastic Programming* (Springer, New York), 137–152.
- Buss AH, Ahner DK (2006) Dynamic allocation of fires and sensors (DAFS): A lowresolution simulation for rapid modeling. *Proceedings of the 2006 Winter Simulation Conference*, https://doi.org/10.1109/WSC.2006.323235
- Brown GG, Kline JE (2021) Optimizing missile loads for U.S. Navy combatants. *Military Operations Research* 26(2), https://www.jstor.org/stable/27028854
- Cai LE (2018) Exploring characteristics of an effective mix of precision and volume indirect fire in urban operations using agent-based simulation. Master's thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, http://hdl.handle.net/10945/60370
- Congressional Research Service (2020) Russian Armed Forces: Military modernization and reforms. Report IF11603, Washington, DC, https://crsreports.congress.gov
- Congressional Research Service (2022) China naval modernization: Implications for U.S. Navy capabilities—background and issues for congress. Report RL33153, Washington, DC, https://crsreports.congress.gov
- Department of Defense (2018) Department of Defense news briefing by Admiral James Foggo in the Pentagon briefing room on the upcoming Trident Juncture 18 exercise. https://www.defense.gov/News/Transcripts/Transcript/Article/1658146/departme nt-of-defense-news-briefing-by-admiral-james-foggo-in-the-pentagon-brie/
- Director, Operational Test and Evaluation (2021) FY2020 annual report, https://www.dote.osd.mil/Annual-Reports/2020-Annual-Report/
- Hart WE, Watson JP, Woodruff DL (2011) Pyomo: Modeling and solving mathematical programs in Python, *Mathematical Programming Computation* 3(3): 219–260.

- Hart WE, Laird C, Watson JP, Woodruff DL, Hackebeil GA, Nicholson BL, Siirola JD (2017) *Pyomo—Optimization Modeling in Python* (Springer, Berlin, Germany).
- Hattaway SB (2008) Adapting the dynamic allocation of fires and sensors (DAFS) model for use in maritime combat analysis. Master's thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, http://hdl.handle.net/10945/4228
- Havens ME (2002) Dynamic allocation of fires and sensors. Master's thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, http://hdl.handle.net/10945/5109
- IBM (2022) CPLEX optimization studio. Accessed March 5, 2022, https://www.ibm.com/products/ilog-cplex-optimization-studio
- Janes (2021a) Naval inventories. Accessed July 1, 2022, https://customer-janescom.libproxy.nps.edu/Visualisation/Display/FG_1031518-JSADA
- Janes (2021b) Mk 54 mod 0/mod 1/mod 2. Accessed July 1, 2022, https://customer.janes.com/Janes/Display/JUWS0503-JNW_
- Jarek MM (1994) Vertical launch system loadout model. Master's thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, http://hdl.handle.net/10945/42990
- Joint Chiefs of Staff (2021) Joint maritime operations. JP 3-32, Washington, DC, https://www.jcs.mil/Portals/36/Documents/Doctrine/pubs/jp3_32ch1.pdf
- Microsoft Corporation (2022) Microsoft Excel. https://www.microsoft.com/enus/microsoft-365/excel
- Page JM (1991) The optimal force mix and allocation of fires for the future field artillery. Master's thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, http://hdl.handle.net/10945/26671
- Payne CM (2010) Weapon propulsion and architecture. *Principles of Naval Weapon Systems* (Naval Institute Press, Annapolis, MD), 292–294.
- Uryasev S, Pardalos P (2004) Robust decision making: Addressing uncertainties in distribution. Report, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/pdfs/ADA423866.pdf
- Templin SJ (2021) Optimizing VLS firing policy: An enumeration of heterogeneous sequences to inform expenditure. Master's thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, http://hdl.handle.net/10945/68752
- Tutton SJ (2003) Optimizing the allocation of sensor assets for the unit of action. Master's thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, http://hdl.handle.net/10945/892
INITIAL DISTRIBUTION LIST

- 1. Defense Technical Information Center Ft. Belvoir, Virginia
- 2. Dudley Knox Library Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, California